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The author is always looking to gather more information about the Battle of the Aisne for revised editions of this volume. If you are related to any of the participants of the battle and have photographs, personal testimonies, letters, diaries or any relevant information, please contact Paul Kendall at paul.kendall193@btinternet.com.


This book is dedicated to my uncles Ted Whiley and John Whiley and to the Old Contemptibles who fought at the Battle of the Aisne in 1914.





It was in the fighting on that river that the eyes of all of us began to be opened.


Field Marshal Sir John French





The river is 50 yards wide and we had to cross on a single girder about 9 inches wide. It was a feat of tightrope that never fell to the lot of a British soldier before. The bullets were as numerous as hailstones and the shells, well, they defy description. The cries of the wounded who had been knocked off the girder and drowning enough to turn a man’s brain.


Private Heys, 1st King’s (Liverpool) Regiment





The Victoria Cross is won over and over again in a single day. They are brave! What if you were to see how the wounded act after the excitement of battle! They suffer their wounds, great and small, without a murmur; they get their wounds dressed, take chloroform, give consent to have their limbs amputated, just as if they were going to have their hair cut. They are gloriously brave.


MO of the 14th Field Ambulance
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INTRODUCTION


The British Expeditionary Force arrived at the southern banks of the river Aisne on 12 September 1914 after marching approximately 160 miles over three weeks from Mons in Belgium. They endured their baptism of fire at Mons on 23 August, fighting rearguard actions as they retreated south towards the banks of the Marne. Between 5 and 10 September they assisted the French Army in turning the tide of the war and inflicted a defeat upon German forces, compelling them to withdraw to the river Aisne. The Germans entrenched themselves along the wooded heights of the Chemin des Dames, north of the river Aisne, which is approximately 60 miles north east of Paris. It was an arduous journey for the soldiers serving with the BEF who were demoralised, suffering from exhaustion, hunger, sore backs and blistered feet by the time they reached the banks of the river.


The majority of crossings over the Aisne had been destroyed or partially destroyed by German engineers with explosives, so it was a massive engineering challenge for the sappers of the Royal Engineers to either repair damaged bridges or build pontoons, which they did under enemy shell fire. It was also a great challenge, mindful of the physical condition and mental state of the soldiers of the BEF, to get across the river and establish a bridgehead on the north banks. The odds were heavily stacked against these soldiers of the ‘contemptible little army’.


The exhausted soldiers of the BEF had to cross this swollen river under German artillery shells and machine guns. The 11th Infantry Brigade led the BEF during the night of 12/13 September, with only a single lamp to guide them from the north bank. One wrong step could result in these weary soldiers, who had endured so much during the first weeks of the war, falling into the river and drowning.


By the morning of 14 September General Sir Douglas Haig’s I Corps and General Sir Horace Smith-Dorrien’s II Corps had successfully crossed the river Aisne. It was an enormous gamble for Field Marshal Sir John French, commander of the BEF, to push his soldiers perhaps beyond their limits of physical endurance to cross the Aisne and establish a bridgehead. French did not know whether General von Kluck’s First German Army was going to continue to withdraw northwards or establish a defensive line amongst the Chemin des Dames ridge and hold its ground.


Unbeknownst to Field Marshal French, he was sending his exhausted troops into a battle where the enemy were entrenched on the high ground, supported by heavy howitzers. The calibres of these guns ranged from 15cm to 21cm (6 to 8 inches). German 8-inch howitzers were deployed to the Aisne sector and were concealed along the Chemin des Dames or behind its northern ridge. Fired at a high angle, the projectiles could reach targets behind crests and drop into trenches or enemy positions behind a hill or ridge, causing craters 20 feet wide and 10 feet deep. These howitzers could reach targets not reached by flat trajectory guns. The German defences, concealed from the eyes of the BEF along the wooded ridges, would prove impregnable. Waves of British soldiers advanced uphill through muddy beet fields, as heavy rain blew into their faces and shell fire of an unprecedented magnitude was brought down on them. The first day of the Battle of the Aisne was 14 September; it would last until the end of the month.


The Battle of the Aisne was significant because it brought the war of movement to an end. It was a ghastly show stopper. With German forces strongly fortified along the wooded heights, the British and French forces could not break through. Every wave of infantry sent forward would stumble through a maelstrom of machine-gun fire and high explosive shells. The Battle of the Aisne would end in the stalemate of trench warfare. It was here that the first trenches of the Western Front were dug, the starting point of the line of trenches that would eventually stretch from the Swiss frontier across France and Belgium to the North Sea. Trench warfare had been conducted during the American Civil War of 1861–65 and during the Russo-Japanese War of 1902–05; but this time it would be fought on an enormous, unprecedented scale. One line of trenches would prevent all sides from moving forward across the entire continent of Europe. The Western Front was born at Aisne and the trenches would determine the defensive strategy of the war for the next four years. The battle demonstrated to commanders that the spade would be as important as the rifle.


The appearance of lines of trenches, defended by machine guns and heavy artillery, would force commanders on both sides to reconsider their strategies. This was the first major war fought by British soldiers in Europe since the Battle of Waterloo. British commanders could not foresee the impact that modern weapons would have on how the war would be fought. They had been brought up during the Victorian era; they were trained to fight colonial wars with weapons from the Victorian age. They were taught offensive tactics and that the only way to win a battle was to advance and attack. British commanders in 1914 had no conception of how to use the modern rifle, machine guns, heavy calibre artillery and aeroplanes to fight and win a war.


At Aisne, the allied commanders would send their troops into futile assaults up slopes devoid of cover to attack the hidden lines. Each assault would fail with heavy casualties and an inevitable retreat to start lines. The BEF officially lost 561 officers and 12,980 men during the battle, over ten per cent of the force. It would leave their commanders lost for a solution or strategy to deliver a decisive victory.


The loss of 13,541 cas-ualties was difficult for communities in Britain to comprehend. Many homes in Britain would receive news that their loved ones had died during this awful battle via telegrams or in letters from comrades who saw them fall in battle. Journalists reported from the battlefield and from the hospitals where the wounded were taken across Britain. Their articles would appear in British newspapers daily, on occasion detailing potentially strategically sensitive information relating to the progress of the campaign.


The losses incurred jeopardised the operational effectiveness of the BEF. Some battalions who fought at the Aisne were completely annihilated and their losses equalled the tragic casualty rates seen during the first day of the Somme two years later, in July 1916. It was indeed a national tragedy. The battle was etched into the consciousness of the British public to such an extent that many babies born during the last months of 1914 would be christened with ‘Aisne’ as a middle name. As the Battle of the Aisne was being fought, Lord Herbert Kitchener, who could foresee that it would take years to defeat Germany, was already proactive in the recruitment of soldiers to replace those men lost at Mons, during the retreat to the Marne and at the Aisne.
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The Battle of the Aisne was fought on a 100-mile front from Compiègne to Tahure, east of Rheims. The French 6th Army led by General Maunoury held the line along the Compiègne-Soissons sector. The British Expeditionary Force led by Field Marshal Sir John French advanced upon the Soissons–Vauxcéré sector. General Franchet d’Esperey’s French 5th Army held the line between Vauxcéré and Berry-au-Bac; the 9th French Army commanded by General Ferdinand Foch advanced along the front near Rheims and the French 4th Army led by General Ferdinand Langle de Cary held the line close to the upper Suippe.


They were opposed by four German armies. The German 1st Army, commanded by General Alexander von Kluck, held the Compiégne-Soissons sector. The German 2nd Army commanded by General Karl von Bülow was deployed between Soissons and Craonne. The German 3rd Army led by General Max von Hausen formed a defensive line between Craonne and Rheims; The German 4th Army commanded by the Duke of Württemberg held the line between Rheims and Suippe.


This book focuses upon the efforts of the BEF to cross the Aisne within their sector and their brave but futile attempts to dislodge their enemy from the Chemin des Dames. Six Victoria Crosses were awarded to individuals serving with the BEF for their courage during the battle, four of those for heroic acts carried out on 14 September. The Victoria Cross was surely earned by many other soldiers during those terrible weeks, unrecognised by any award. This is a story of endurance, fortitude and courage and demonstrates the determined spirit of the British soldier in the face of overwhelming odds. Perhaps the massive losses suffered by the British Expeditionary Force at Neuve Chapelle and Loos in 1915, the Somme in 1916 and Passchendaele in 1917 have overshadowed the carnage at Aisne. I hope that this book highlights the importance of the battle and raises awareness of the sacrifices of those men who fought and died on the Chemin des Dames.




PART ONE





THE ROAD TO THE AISNE
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1


THE OPPOSING ARMIES IN 1914


The British Army in 1914 was a small, professional army comprised of volunteers. It was a tiny army in comparison to other European powers, which relied on conscription. The officers were almost exclusively from affluent backgrounds, motivated by patriotism, a sense of duty, and family reputation. The ranks were recruited from the poor, for whom the Army offered a rough sanctuary. Providing they could pass through the training they could look forward to a uniform, being fed three meals a day, accommodation and after completion of 20 years service, a modest pension.


When war broke out in August, the British Army would assemble a force of six infantry divisions and one cavalry division – the British Expeditionary Force – amounting to 100,000 soldiers. Many of the officers and men who would form the BEF had served during the Boer War of 1899–1902. The British campaign in South Africa had highlighted weaknesses within the British Army. Field craft skills were lacking and the men could not even shoot effectively. The cavalry were tactically limited and did not fight with the same flexibility as the South African horsemen, who were trained to dismount and fight. The Boer War had demonstrated that the British Army was not prepared for modern warfare. As a consequence, during the first decade of the new century, there would be a restructuring and transformation of training. A General Staff was created to coordinate command and operational planning. Soldiers were trained to shoot at a target at a rate of 15 rounds per minute. Cavalry were trained to fight while dismounted, the artillery was modernised with updated artillery pieces. The Royal Horse Artillery used the 13-pounder and the Field Artillery was equipped with the 18-pounder and the 4.5-inch howitzer.
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British troops on manoeuvres. These soldiers were trained to fire their Short Magazine Lee Enfield rifles at fifteen rounds per minute. (Author)
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Grenadier Guards training prior to the First World War. (Author)
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German soldier wearing the uniform worn during the 1914 campaign including the Pickelhaube helmet. These helmets worn in 1914 would be used by British and French riflemen as targets. (Author)


The opening months of the war in 1914 and in particular the experience at the Battle of the Aisne would show that the initiatives taken were not enough. The impassable Western Front demonstrated that both sides were unable to win a modern war. It would take four years for the Allies to find a way of making a decisive breakthrough.
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The German Army was not strictly a single unified force. Each monarchy, such as the Dukedom of Baden, had its own army, though the Kaiser was commander-in-chief. Dfferent units even had their own seitengewehr (bayonets). (Author)





The British Army from which the BEF was drawn had a strength of 250,000 in 1914, 50 per cent serving overseas in the colonies. In a time of national crisis the British Army was reliant upon reserves and territorial forces. Just over 60 per cent of the BEF that was sent to France were reservists. Reservists were soldiers who had completed their service as regulars and returned to civilian life who could be called to serve at the outbreak of war. Territorial units were civilians who trained at weekends and their primary role was to defend the British Isles while the regular army fought overseas. The Territorial units comprised six divisions and 140,000 men in 1914.


In 1914 the French Army consisted of 76 infantry divisions and ten cavalry divisions, which numbered 2 million men. These men were conscripts. On mobilisation in August the German Imperial Army amounted to an awesome 9.9 million men. The German Army was also of course formed of conscripted men. On reaching the age of 17 German males were liable for conscription to serve between two to three years in the army. After completing this mandatory service they joined the reserves.


The European armies were dressed in the uniforms of the previous century. British officers, like French and German officers, continued to carry swords during the first months of the war. The officers and men serving with the French Army wore blue tunics, bright red trousers and red caps covered with a blue cover, easily identifiable targets for German machine gunners and snipers. Similarly, the German infantry were not dressed for trench warfare. The Pickelhaube helmet, originally designed in 1842 and made from leather, afforded no protection from flying shrapnel and made a good target.


The three armies used different rifles. The Tommy was armed with the Short Magazine Lee-Enfield rifle. Each magazine carried ten rounds. Regarded as an effective service weapon in both the First and the Second World War, British infantrymen were trained to fire this weapon at 15 rounds per minute and hit their target at an effective range of 550 yards. The French Army was armed with a magazine rifle which contained 8 cartridges in the butt, the Lebel Rifle. German soldiers used the Mauser Gewehr 98 rifle, which had been in service since 1898 and was the most common armament throughout the First World War. Its bolt action precluded rapid fire and it was limited to five rounds per magazine. Bullets fired from these rifles would travel at twice the speed of sound and the unfortunate soul who was hit would not have heard the sound of the bullet until after it had hit him.
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A German Maxim machine gun and British Vickers machine gun on display at the Mons Museum. These guns were used at the Battle of the Aisne to devastating effect, and would play a major part in enforcing a stalemate on the Western Front. (Author)
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This image of a German machine-gun crew was taken in a studio in 1914. These soldiers were regarded as the elite of the German Army. (Author)
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British artillery at the Battle of the Aisne. (Author)


Machine guns would dominate the battlefield and help to instigate the stalemate of trench warfare. This formidable weapon was developed by American inventor Hiram Maxim in 1884, and demonstrated its deadly capability to stop waves of advancing infantry during the Battle of the Aisne. The British Army placed an order for three machine guns to test during 1887, and surprisingly, despite a successful demonstration, the British never adopted the Maxim.


The German Imperial Army placed orders for the Maxim machine gun in 1887 and after testing, Kaiser Wilhelm II realised the potential of the machine gun and placed further orders. In 1901 the Germans had established a machine-gun branch. When war broke out the German Army had 12,500 Maxim machine guns in operation. The official name was the Maschinen Gewehr 08. It was fixed on a tripod, belt fed, water-cooled and fully automatic. The disadvantage was that these water-cooled machine guns would emit steam, which gave away the machine-gun’s position. British and French soldiers would then target the barrel jacket. The Maschinen Gewehr 08 could fire 7.92 mm rounds at a rate of 600 rounds per minute to a maximum distance of 4000 yards, but was deadly at 2200 yards. The bullets travelled at three times the speed of sound. Their crews were specially selected and were regarded as an elite force.


The British Army were late in realising the potential of the machine gun. When war broke out there were only two Vickers machine guns allotted to each infantry battalion. The Vickers machine gun was an advanced, lighter version of the Maxim, with improved mechanisms. However British soldiers did not receive adequate training in how to operate the Vickers. The Vickers used .303 ammunition and could fire 450 rounds a minute, but with few of these guns available, being operated by inexperienced soldiers, they did not make any impact during the early stages of the war and especially at the Aisne. If a Vickers machine gun was fired continually for an hour the barrel would be worn out and had to be replaced, a difficult operation in the heat of battle. It was not until October 1915 that the British Army established the Machine Gun Corps, training soldiers to specialise in the use of the machine gun.


Modern artillery would of course have an enormous impact on the course and conduct of the war. All field artillery guns were flat trajectory and their purpose was to subdue enemy assaults and to support infantry advances at short range.


The British Army used the 18-pounder, which was produced in 1904. It was developed from lessons learnt during the Boer War and would become the standard British field gun. By August 1914 the British Army had 1226 in service. By the end of the war 9424 were in operation. The 18-pounder had a calibre of 3.3 inches; it could fire shells weighing between 4.6kg and 8.4kg and had a range of 6525 yards. It had a rate of fire of 8 rounds per minute.


The French Army used the 75mm (2.9 inch) field gun, which incorporated a buffer recoil action that enabled it to fire repeatedly without relaying. The French 75 mm field gun was first produced in 1897 and by 1914 the French Army had approximately 4000 in service. The gun weighed 1,143kg and had a range of 7500 yards. It was able to fire a 5.2kg high explosive shell and a 7.2kg shrapnel shell. It could fire at a rate of 15–20 rounds per minute and was used throughout the war.
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The British flat trajectory field guns used by the Royal Artillery during the Battle of the Aisne were no match for the German howitzers. It was also impossible for the British guns to locate and target these formidable German weapons. (Author)
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150 mm (6 inch) German howitzer used at the Battle of the Aisne. The high angle elevation meant that these large calibre artillery pieces could be positioned beneath a ridge and could fire upon enemy targets on the other side. (Author)





The German Army used the 77 mm (3 inch) field gun, which could fire high explosive shells with a range of 11,264 yards. However they also possessed more formidable examples of artillery in the form of howitzers, which could project heavy shells that could cause large craters. German artillery used the 10.5cm (4 inch) Feldhaubitze 98/09 during the Battle of the Aisne, which fired the Feldhaubitzgranate 98, a 15.8 kilogram high explosive shell, or the Feldhaubitzschrapnel 98, a 12.8 kilogram shrapnel shell. German artillery also used the 21-cm Langer Morser (long mortar) with a calibre of 8.3 inches and range between 10,280 and 11,155 yards. It could be fired at a high angle of elevation, which meant that it could be positioned behind hills and ridges. It would fire various types of shell during the Battle of the Aisne including high explosive shrapnel, small, high-velocity shells known as ‘whizz-bangs’ or ‘Jack Johnsons’. The HE shell fired by German 21cm howitzers, which would emit black smoke, would cause the most devastation. Causing an enormous impact, they could destroy villages, level trees and vapourise men.
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German 21cm (8.3-inch) howitzer. The shells fired from these guns were known as Jack Johnsons and could create a massive crater. The ferocity of these high calibre howitzers would force the BEF to dig deeper trenches in an attempt to provide more effective shelter from shrapnel. (Author)




2


THE COMMANDERS


FIELD MARSHAL SIR JOHN FRENCH


COMMANDER-IN-CHIEF BRITISH EXPEDITIONARY FORCE


John Denton Pinkstone French was born in Deal, Kent, on 28 September 1852. French joined the Royal Navy as a cadet in August 1866 when he began his training on HMS Britannia at Dartmouth. On completing his training he served as a midshipman on the iron-clad HMS Warrior, which is now moored in Portsmouth Dockyard. Life at sea did not agree with French and after resigning from the Royal Navy he joined the Suffolk Artillery Militia and on 28 February 1874 joined the Army. French was gazetted to the 8th (Queen’s Royal Irish) Hussars as a Lieutenant. He would transfer to the 19th Hussars weeks later. In 1885 he was promoted to Major and was in command of a squadron from the 19th Hussars in the Sudan during the Gordon Relief Expedition. He took part in the action at Abu Klea during January 1885 against Mahdist forces. French was promoted to Lieutenant-Colonel the following month and was mentioned in despatches for his role in the campaign. In 1895 French was transferred to a post in the War Office where he produced a cavalry training manual and became acquainted with a junior officer, Douglas Haig. During 1897 French was appointed commander of 2nd Cavalry Brigade with the rank of temporary Major-General. At this period in his life French was facing financial difficulty and had to borrow money from his affluent subordinate, Haig, in order to pay his debts. French was appointed commander of the Cavalry Division in 1899 and commanded them during various actions during the Boer War. In July 1900 French was awarded the KCB and was now Sir John French. French returned home during 1902 and on 15 September he was appointed commander of I Army Corps and promoted to Lieutenant General. Appointed as Chief of the Imperial General Staff in March 1912, French oversaw changes to the structure of the British Army and was responsible for the transformation of infantry battalions from eight small companies into four large companies. On 3 June 1913 Sir John French was elevated to the rank of Field Marshal.
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Field Marshal Sir John French, commander of the BEF.


French was appointed commander of the British Expeditionary Force on 4 August 1914. He sailed from Dover aboard HMS Sentinel arriving in Boulogne on 14 August. Within ten days his force was engaged with the German Army at Mons. Vulnerable to being overrun by the far larger German army, French became unnerved and ordered a retreat from Mons. Another battle was fought at Le Cateau on 26 August and the BEF continued its retreat to the Marne. Devastated by the casualties at Mons and Le Cateau, French decided to preserve his force and retire from the area of operations to buy time to refit and reorganise. The British Government disagreed with French’s decision and sent Lord Kitchener, the Secretary of State for War, to Paris to order French to keep the BEF in line with movements made by their French allies.


French was instructed to take orders from General Joffre, his junior in rank and with less combat experience. Resentful, Field Marshal French nevertheless complied with orders from London and from General Joffre. He ordered the BEF to pursue the German Imperial Army to the river Aisne. It was here that the BEF’s advance came to an immediate halt. He had to reorganise his force and introduce reinforcements into their ranks swiftly. It was an incredible logistical and organisational challenge. French was deeply worried about the lack of battlefield experience of the officer replacements. He was also deeply frustrated in not being able to advance beyond the Chemin des Dames. When there was no prospect of further advance he ordered the BEF to dig in. Anxious to shorten lines of communication and supply from the Channel Ports, he convinced General Joffre that it would be prudent to transfer the BEF to the left flank of the French Army and during October 1914 they were deployed to the Flanders sector at Ypres.
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Field Marshal Sir John French sailed from Dover aboard HMS Sentinel. He is pictured arriving at Boulogne at 5.00pm on 14 August 1914.


At the beginning of 1915, Joffre pressured French into launching offensives despite a shortage of shells and the inability to launch preparatory barrages. French launched an assault at Neuve Chapelle in March 1915. Haig’s British First Army took the German Army by surprise and broke through German lines to capture Neuve Chapelle. The initiative was lost when Haig hesitated and refused to send infantry into the breach until reinforcements arrived. While Haig waited for reinforcements, General Erich von Falkenhayn sent in his own reinforcements to secure the German line. British infantry tried to recapture the ground gained but to no avail. They had lost the momentum. The British Army lost a further 13,000 casualties. Field Marshal French blamed a lack of resources and a shortage of shells. The lack of artillery ammunition caused a scandal in Britain and seriously undermined Lord Kitchener’s role as Secretary of State for War. The Ministry of Munitions, led by David Lloyd George, was established as a result of the ‘Shell Scandal’. Infantry reinforcements poured into France and by August 1915 Field Marshal French was in command of 28 divisions, some 900,000 men.


During the period 25 September to 8 October 1915 French launched another offensive in the Artois sector at Loos. General Joffre chose the ground for this assault without considering the viability of launching such an operation across coalfields and the ruins of houses and mining equipment. Field Marshal French was ordered to comply with Joffre’s decision despite having reservations. This was the first occasion when poison gas was used by the British Army upon German forces. The initiative was disastrous because a change in wind direction blew the gas upon the British infantry, but despite this, battalions from Haig’s First Army managed to capture some ground, breaking through the first German line and making limited gains in the second line. Haig requested more reinforcements in order to consolidate their gains, but Field Marshal French kept the reserves so far back from the front that they were too late to assist Haig and when the Germans counter attacked, the initiative was lost. The Battle of Loos resulted in the loss of 50,000 British troops. General Haig was critical of Field Marshal French’s poor performance and blamed the failure at Loos on French holding the reserves too far back. Sir Douglas Haig was corresponding with King George V, Herbert Asquith, the Prime Minister and Lord Kitchener and expressed his opinion that Field Marshal French did not have the capability to deliver a victory; that he was out of his depth and was not fit to command the British Army in France. French was regarded as erratic and indecisive. Within weeks of sustaining heavy losses at Loos he was ordered to relinquish command of the BEF and hand over command to General Sir Douglas Haig. The relationship between French and Haig would become one of mutual contempt. French continued to serve in other military positions throughout the war. He was appointed Commander-in-Chief Home Forces and in February 1916 he was given a peerage as Viscount French of Ypres and High Lake. On 22 May 1925, Viscount French died of cancer of the bladder at Deal Castle in Kent.


GENERAL JOSEPH JOFFRE


CHIEF OF STAFF, FRENCH ARMY


Joseph Jacques Joffre was born in Rivesaltes, Roussillon in the Eastern Pyrenees on 12 January 1852.He studied at the Ecole Polytechnique from 1870 and would serve in the French Army as a career officer. Joffre saw active service at the siege of Paris during the Franco-Prussian War. Joffre was a military engineer and spent much of his career serving in the French colonies. He saw action during the Keelung Campaign in the Sino-French War from August 1884 until April 1885. With no experience of commanding an army or knowledge of the workings at Staff level, Joffre was appointed Commander-in-Chief of the French Army during 1911. Joffre established Plan XVII, which was an offensive strategy to be implemented in the event of a future war with Germany. The plan would be implemented if Germany invaded Belgium and involved driving a French assault through the Ardennes at Sedan and at Mulhouse into the bitterly contested territory once owned by France called Alsace Lorraine and then into Germany. Joffre launched Plan XVII, which in effect was the Lorraine Offensive, during the middle of August 1914. Overwhelmed by superior German forces Joffre had to withdraw. When the war began Joffre had in mind ‘the cult of the offensive’. His strategy would result in severe losses for the French Army, which he commanded from August 1914 until December1916. French losses on his watch amounted to about 454,000 men killed or missing. His worst day was 22 August 1914, with 27,000 official fatalites.
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General Joseph Joffre, Chief of Staff of the French Army.


Joffre was able to maintain composure despite the heavy losses and the mounting pressure of the German invasion advancing towards Paris. He was technically minded and successfully planned the logistical movements of French infantry and kept French artillery supplied. This enabled him to regroup and reorganise his forces for a victorious counter attack on the River Marne. This would be his only victory and he would be credited as the individual responsible for saving France during those dark days. The French Army, together with the BEF, would pursue the German Army to the Aisne valley. Desperate to make a breakthrough and force the German invaders from French soil, Joffre launched assaults upon German lines in Artois in May 1915 and in Champagne during September 1915; both failed. In order to secure the French lines he ordered the dismantling of the heavy artillery guns that defended the fortress at Verdun and their distribution along the French lines. This proved to be Joffre’s greatest error of judgment, when German forces attacked Verdun in 1916. On 13 December 1916 the French Prime Minister Aristide Briand dismissed Joffre from his position and General Robert Nivelle was appointed Commander-in-Chief of the French Army.


Joffre was appointed Marshal of France, which was no more than a ceremonial role. In June 1917 he was appointed Head of the French Military Mission to the US and during the final year of the war Leader of the Supreme War Council. Joffre died in Paris on 3 January 1931.


GENERAL SIR HORACE SMITH-DORRIEN


COMMANDER BRITISH II CORPS


Horace Smith-Dorrien was born near Berkhamstead, Hertfordshire on 26 May 1858. He was educated at Harrow and Sandhurst. On 26 February 1876 he was gazetted as a Lieutenant to the 95th (Derbyshire) Regiment of Foot. Smith-Dorrien fought in the Zulu War, distinguishing himself at the Battle of Isandlwana on 22 January 1879.


As Zulu forces overwhelmed the British lines, Smith-Dorrien escaped from the battlefield and was recommended for the Victoria Cross for helping others to escape. He was one of approximately 50 survivors from this battle, but the recommendation for the prestigious award was never processed and he never received it. He was mentioned in dispatches when he took part in the Battle of Ulundi on 4 July 1879, which resulted in defeat for the Zulus.
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General Sir Horace Smith-Dorrien, Commander British II Corps.


He was an observer at the Battle of Glennis on 30 December 1885, which was the last time that the British Army fought wearing scarlet tunics. During the following day Smith-Dorrien was involved in an action which resulted in him being awarded the Distinguished Service Cross.


In 1898 he fought at the Battle of Omdurman in Sudan and during the following year he was sent to South Africa to fight in the Boer War. On 2 February 1900 Smith-Dorrien was appointed commander of the 19th Brigade and seven days later he was promoted to Major-General. In 1911 he was appointed Aide-de-Camp to King George V. On 1 March 1912 he was appointed GOC Southern Command and later that year he was promoted to General.


At the outbreak of the First World War Smith-Dorrien was appointed commander-in-chief of the Home Defence Army, but after the death of Sir James Grierson Lord Kitchener offered him the role of commander of II Corps. Kitchener advised Smith-Dorrien that Field Marshal Sir John French nursed a vehement dislike for him and asked if that would pose a problem. Smith-Dorrien was a professional soldier and told Kitchener that he did not bear any ill feeling towards French and it would not interfere with him carrying out his duty. French had requested Sir Herbert Plumer, but Kitchener appointed Smith-Dorrien because he had the strength of character to stand up to French when the need arose.


The animosity that French felt for Smith-Dorrien was apparent when French accused him of jeopardising the BEF by fighting a rearguard action at Le Cateau. French had ordered II Corps to retire earlier that morning, but Smith-Dorrien ignored French’s orders and fought. Smith-Dorrien would continue to command II Corps during the Battle of the Marne, the Aisne and at Ypres during the 1914 campaign.


On 26 December 1914 Smith-Dorrien was given command of the British Second Army. The second Battle of Ypres began on 22 April 1915 when German forces unleashed poison gas upon British and French lines in Flanders.


This was the first use of gas in war and would cause a breach in the allied lines. On 27 April Smith-Dorrien recommended that the Second Army withdraw to a better defensive position. Field Marshal Sir John French used Smith-Dorrien’s recommendation in contravention of his orders as a reason to remove him from his command and replace him with Sir Hubert Plumer as commander of Second Army. French’s decision was based on his own personal feelings towards Smith-Dorrien – Sir Hubert Plumer recommended a course of action similar to Smith-Dorrien’s withdrawal strategy, which French accepted.


Smith-Dorrien was sent to serve in the East African Campaign but illness meant that he could not continue. He returned to Britain where on 29 January 1917 he was appointed Lieutenant at the Tower of London. After the war he served as Governor of Gibraltar from 1918 until May 1923.


Smith-Dorrien died on 12 August 1930 after being injured in a car accident at Chippenham in Wiltshire. He was aged 72 when he died and was buried at Three Close Lane Cemetery, Berkhamsted.


GENERAL SIR DOUGLAS HAIG


COMMANDER BRITISH I CORPS


Douglas Haig was born in Edinburgh on 19 June 1861. He was educated at Clifton College and in 1880 went up to Brasenose College, Oxford. Haig was a diligent student and excelled in horsemanship, particularly polo. He joined the Army and went to the Royal Military College at Sandhurst in 1883. On 7 February 1885 he was commissioned as a lieutenant in the 7th (Queen’s Own) Hussars. He served nine years in India. He took part in the campaign to reconquer Sudan in 1898 and fought at the Battle of Omdurman. He saw active service during the Boer War from 1899 when he acted as assistant adjutant general to General John French who commanded the Cavalry Division. He was mentioned four times in despatches during that war.


When the First World War broke out he was appointed commander of I Corps. Haig’s I Corps covered the retreat from Mons and took part in the advance to the Aisne. The battalions under his command secured a bridgehead north of Bourg-et-Comin during the Battle of the Aisne during September 1914. When the BEF were transferred to Flanders his single Corps resisted four German Corps and prevented them from making a breakthrough at Ypres. Haig was promoted to General on 16 November 1914 and with the restructuring of the BEF into two armies, Haig was appointed commander of the First Army, which was comprised of I, IV and Indian Corps. In March 1915 Field Marshal French deployed Haig’s First Army in costly, ineffective attacks upon German lines at Neuve Chapelle on 10–13 March 1915, at Festubert between 15–25 May and at Loos during the period 25 September to 14 October.


[image: images]


Lieutenant General Sir Douglas Haig, Command British I Corps.


The failure of these operations during 1915 resulted in French being dismissed by Prime Minister Herbert Asquith and replaced by Haig as Commander-in-Chief of the BEF on 19 December 1915. On 1 July 1916 during the first day of the Somme Campaign Haig lost 57,470 casualties, which is remembered as, unsurprisingly, the greatest loss ever suffered by the British Army in a single day. The campaign was fought for a further four months resulting in the loss of approximately 420,000 for small gains. On 1 January 1917 Haig was elevated to Field Marshal and promised the British Cabinet a victory over Germany that year. Instead he committed the BEF to another arguably wasteful campaign at Ypres with the loss of 400,000 men.


Haig held onto his command until the end of the war. He retired from the British Army in June 1921 and was elevated to the peerage as Earl Haig of Bemersyde. He died on 30 January 1928 in London and was buried at Dryburgh Abbey, Bemersyde.


GENERAL OBERST ALEXANDER VON KLUCK


COMMANDER FIRST GERMAN ARMY


Alexander von Kluck was born on 20 May 1846. He saw active service with the Prussian Army during Austro-Prussian War in 1866. He sustained two wounds at the Battle of Colombey-Neuilly in the Franco-Prussian War during 1870. He was a career officer and when war broke out in August 1914 General von Kluck was appointed commander of the First German Army.


General von Kluck’s First German Army swept through Belgium capturing Brussels before driving forward through the BEF’s position at Mons on 23 August and at Le Cateau on 26 August. Instead of advancing into France south of the Channel ports and enveloping Paris as per the Schlieffen Plan he ordered the First Army to advance east of the French Capital in a drive to meet the French armies at Sedan. It was originally intended that the First Army would attack Paris from the west while General von Bülow’s Second Army would attack from the east. Von Kluck had changed the plan and left his flank and the flank of von Bülow exposed. Von Kluck was not aware that the French General Michel-Joseph Maunoury had assembled and organised the French Sixth Army in Paris. On 1 September a French patrol had seized a German dispatch car with a map containing General von Kluck’s plans showing he had discarded the original Schlieffen Plan and was advancing southeast. Bypassing Paris, the German First Army and Second Army were exposed during September as General Maunoury’s French Sixth Army and General Louis Franchet d’Esperey’s French Fifth Army seized the opportunity to attack and defeated them at the Marne. The German armies withdrew 40 miles north to the heights overlooking the river Aisne. It was here that General von Kluck’s First Army defended the ridges of the Chemin des Dames against the determined efforts of the BEF. General von Kluck suffered a serious wound to his leg from shrapnel in March 1915 and was retired from active service. Alexander von Kluck died in Berlin on 19 October 1934.
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General von Kluck, Commander of the First German Army.




3


THE PATH TO THE AISNE


A brief reminder of just why the BEF found itself crossing the Channel might be of benefit to some readers; to those for whom this summary is redundant, I apologise. Following the assassination of Archduke Franz Ferdinand, Kaiser Wilhelm II had proclaimed the drohende Kriegsgefahr on 31 July, which alerted Germany to the imminent danger of war. Precautionary measures were implemented within all German Army Corps districts, which meant all German soldiers on leave were recalled to barracks. All important communication infrastructures such as roads, railway lines, bridges and tunnels, together with railway stations, received protection. Soldiers guarding the German border were put on a state of high alert and vigilance.


On that same day Kaiser Wilhelm II warned Russia that Germany would mobilise her forces to counter any acts of aggression directed towards Austria. Russia was hoping that a diplomatic solution to the impending crisis could be achieved, but this hope was extinguished when Germany declared war upon Russia on 1 August. France was a Russian ally and Germany requested that she remain neutral in the eventual Russian–German conflict. France declined and on 3 August Germany declared war on France on the false premise that French patrols had violated their borders and that French aeroplanes had crossed into German airspace.
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German infantry advance during the 1914 campaign. (Author)


The Belgian Army was mobilised on 1 August 1914 in anticipation of an attack. At 7.00pm on 2 August the German ambassador to Belgium gave an ultimatum demanding free access for the German army through Belgium and to its railway network, with a 12-hour time limit for a response. If Belgium agreed to the German proposal, she would no longer be considered a neutral country, making her vulnerable to a French attack. If she refused the German demand, there was the inevitable risk that Germany would send her armies through Belgium anyway. Belgium was trapped in a precarious, no win situation. At 8.02am on 4 August, advance columns of the German Army comprising six infantry brigades and the German II Cavalry Corps commanded by General Otto von Emmich entered Belgium. They were implementing the Schlieffen Plan and by sweeping across the Belgian frontier they were securing the right flank of the German First and Second Armies. The Schlieffen Plan was devised by German General Count Alfred von Schlieffen and involved the mass movement of four German Army Corps by rail to the German frontier. Each Army Corps would require 280 trains to expedite the mobilisation. This meant that a rigid, precise timetable had to be devised to ensure that they would be moved to the German frontier, together with supplies. These trains would travel at 20 miles per hour and there was a precise ten-minute gap between each train moving west.
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German soldiers dressed in the uniforms worn during the 1914 campaign with Mauser 98s. (Author)


They would swiftly sweep through neutral Belgium in an attempt to outflank the French Army’s fortifications along her eastern border. After passing through Belgium into France they would cut off the Channel ports at Dunkirk, Calais and Boulogne, then turn south in an audacious drive for Paris. German commanders hoped that the implementation of Schlieffen’s plan would mean the capture of the French capital 39 days after the initial mobilisation, which would result in the capitulation of France within six weeks. Count Alfred von Schlieffen died aged 80 in 1913 and did not live to see his plan being implemented.


Britain did not have any formal treaties or alliance with France and was under no obligation to get involved in this international crisis on her behalf. However, the German invasion of Belgium would draw Britain into the First World War. Britain had signed a treaty in 1839, the Treaty of London, which meant that she would stand by Belgium against an aggressor. Kaiser Wilhelm II did not relish going to war with Britain and made an unsuccessful attempt to prevent General von Moltke’s armies from invading Belgium in order to avoid one.


The German armies were mobilised on trains adorned with political slogans and flowers; their troops were confident that the French Army would be defeated and the war would be over before the autumn leaves dropped.


The speed with which these men could be mobilised meant that once the button for mobilisation was pressed, it was virtually impossible to reverse the decision. As soon as Germany entered Belgium, Britain honoured its obligations under the Treaty of London signed six decades before and declared war upon Germany. At 4.00pm on 4 August 1914 the British Army was ordered to mobilise.


Anticipating war, Prime Minister Herbert Asquith had sent a message to Lord Kitchener on 3 August offering him the position of Secretary of State for War, with responsibility for that role shared with Lord Richard Haldane, the Lord Chancellor. Asquith was conscious of people’s wariness of unelected soldiers holding positions in government, ingrained since the days after the English Civil War when Oliver Cromwell governed the country. He therefore offered dual responsibility with a cabinet member to allay public alarm.


Kitchener was aged 64 and something of a national hero after his victory at the Battle of Omdurman in 1898. He was British Consul-General of Egypt when war broke out. He was in London on leave at this time. Kitchener initially declined Asquith’s offer of dual appointment with Lord Haldane as Secretary of State for War, for he could foresee the enormity of the job ahead of him and it was his view that he could only succeed in this role and do what was necessary to win the war if he had total control. Kitchener then headed for Dover to embark for Egypt on 4 August to return to his role as British Consul-General. Just before embarkation he received a telegram from Asquith recalling him to London. Kitchener was offered sole responsibility as Secretary of State for War, which he accepted. He was the first serving officer in the British Army to be a member of the British Cabinet since George Monck, Duke of Albemarle, in 1660. There was no political opposition to Kitchener’s appointment and the nation greeted his appointment with enthusiasm.


A Council of War was convened at Number 10 Downing Street on 5 August chaired by Herbert Asquith, the Prime Minister, with the majority of his cabinet in attendance including Winston Churchill in his capacity as First Lord of the Admiralty. Military leaders were ordered to attend the meeting including Field Marshal Sir John French, Lord Roberts, Lord Kitchener, Sir Charles Douglas, Sir Douglas Haig, Sir James Grierson and General Henry Wilson. It was at this meeting that Kitchener forcibly argued that millions of men would have to be recruited and deployed for the war, which might take several years to win. Kitchener foresaw that the British Army would need to initiate a recruitment campaign on a massive and unprecedented scale immediately. It was his opinion that the war would be fought for at least three years and would require 70 divisions in order to fight it. The cabinet was shocked by Kitchener’s view and thought that the war would only last from three to six months, but they placed their trust in him at this time of international crisis.


The Council of War continued and the agenda focused upon the composition of the British Expeditionary Force and where it should be deployed once it had arrived in France. There were concerns that they would need to keep a force in Britain to defend the homeland. Churchill provided reassurance that the Fleet had been partially mobilised three weeks before the outbreak of war and the Royal Navy was able to defend British shores, which meant troops who would normally be held back to defend Britain could be released and form part of the BEF. It was decided to retain one cavalry division and two infantry divisions for home defence and that the BEF would comprise one cavalry division and four infantry divisions and would be dispatched to France as soon as possible. After much deliberation they came to the conclusion that it was most effective to send the force on the French Army’s left flank and deploy between Maubeuge and Le Cateau. Le Cateau was therefore designated as the headquarters of the BEF in France.


On that same day, 5 August, mobilisation of Regulars, Special Reserves and Territorial soldiers was ordered. The BEF’s Headquarters were established at the Hotel Metropole in London while the force was being assembled prior to embarkation for France.


Together with the cavalry division, the four infantry divisions were the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 5th Divisions. The 4th Division would arrive after the BEF had engaged the enemy at Mons. Each division contained 18,000 men, which included 12,000 infantrymen with only 24 machine guns. 4000 artillerymen accompanied them, who brought 76 guns – 54 18-pounders, 18 4.5-inch howitzers and 4 6-pounder artillery pieces. A division was formed of three brigades that contained four battalions. A cavalry division consisted of 9000 men, 10,000 horses with 24 machine guns and 24 13-pounder artillery pieces. Assembling such a force and deploying them to France within nine days was a challenging logistical task. Each train would carry complete units so that they would sail to France on the same ship and would be disembarked ready to be transported. Infantry units would sail from Southampton. The designated ports of disembarkation were Le Havre, Rouen, Boulogne and St Nazaire. Within five days, 1800 trains were specially commissioned to transport troops and equipment to ports on the south coast. The majority of these trains were converging on Southampton Docks, which on its busiest day received 80 trains carrying an entire division.
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1st Grenadier Guards leave Wellington barracks for Waterloo Station. (The War Illustrated, 26 September 1914)
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Scots Guards marching to Waterloo Station bound for France. Private Wilkinson carries his 3-year-old daughter. (The War Illustrated, 26 September 1914)


Those soldiers who had retired from the British Army and who were on the reserve list were summoned to return to military life for the duration of the crisis. Sixty per cent of the 1st Duke of Cornwall’s Light Infantry, for example, were reservists. Reservists were recalled to the colours and reported to post offices across Britain to claim their travel allowance to enable them to report to their allocated depots. They returned to their old battalions. The 2nd Welsh Regiment, for one, was under-manned. Captain Hubert Rees of the 2nd Welsh recorded:





The Battalion was greatly below strength and a large percentage of those men actually serving were too young to take the field. The result of this shortage on mobilisation was to fill the ranks with reservists, who had not time to get physically fit before being called upon to endure the terrific strain of the Retreat.1





It was widely considered at the time that the war would be over by Christmas. Some men thought that serving in the war would be a short break, an adventure that would only last a few months. Little did they know that it would be fought over four years, consuming the lives of millions of men from across the world.


Private Frederick Bolwell was one reservist then living on the south coast. He had received orders to report to the depot of the 1st Loyal North Lancashire Regiment in Lancashire. Bolwell was an old soldier who, despite returning to civilian life and becoming a family man, was keen to go away for a little while. He wrote:





Being a Reservist, I was naturally called to the colours on the outbreak of war between England and Germany on August 4th 1914, so I downed tools; and, although a married man with two children, I was only too pleased to leave a monotonous existence for something far more exciting and adventurous. Being an old soldier, war was of course more or less ingrained into my nature, and during those few days before the final declaration I was at fever heat and longing to be away.2





After the long journey via London in train carriages that were crowded with other reservists, Bolwell arrived in Lancashire to receive his uniform and medical, then within days he was training in Aldershot.


Arthur Lane was a policeman in the City of London Police Force and posted mobilisation notices on both ends of London Bridge and at Mansion House at 6 o’clock on 4 August 1914. Thirty minutes later he handed in his police uniform at the police station after receiving notification to rejoin the 2nd Coldstream Guards the following day. By the end of the week he was training for war in Windsor Great Park with the rank of Sergeant. On the 8th, Sergeant Lane had to fetch Private Powell, another reservist, who was then an inmate residing at His Majesty’s pleasure at Wandsworth Prison, who had also been mobilised.


John Mcllwain was a postal worker in Newcastle and as soon as the order to mobilise was issued, with great enthusiasm he headed off for the Connaught Rangers barracks in Dublin. He later recalled his fervour and commented upon the efficiency of the railway network as it transferred called-up reservists across the country.





At all stations on the way crowds of reserve men like myself, keen and alert, promptly mounted the trains. Every indication that the railway companies were applying themselves to the primary purpose of rapid mobilisation. Years after, my wife spoke of that morning of the 5th August – ‘You seemed so eager to get away.’3





He arrived at the Connaught Rangers barracks at Renmore on 6 August where he joined the 2nd Battalion. Mcllwain had served in this battalion for several years and had left the battalion seven years previously when it was based in Poona, India. After being fitted out with uniform and equipment he and the battalion were dispatched to Aldershot where they practised on the rifle ranges. Mcllwain was promoted to full sergeant while the battalion was preparing for war.


The BEF was split into two corps, both containing two divisions. I Corps was commanded by Sir Douglas Haig. Sir James Grierson, a veteran of the Sudan campaign and the Boer War, was appointed commander of II Corps.


On 7 August, while the BEF was assembling and preparing for mobilisation, Kitchener issued his appeal for 100,000 volunteers to join the British Army. Posters of Kitchener’s imposing face, his piercing eyes looking into the souls and consciences of potential recruits, pointing an assertive finger with the words ‘Your country needs you’ were plastered across Britain. This famous image of the First World War was an incredibly effective piece of marketing — or it really could not fail, preaching to the converted — within 18 months 2,467,000 British men came forward to enlist. Many of these men were anxious to play their part in this impending crisis. Some wanted to get trained as quickly as possible and get to the front before the war ended. The men that answered Kitchener’s war cry would replace the regular soldiers and reservists of the BEF who would perish during the 1914 campaign, including those lost at the Battle of the Aisne.
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A BEF troopship arrives in France. (Author)
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Les braves soldats anglais’ arrive in France, 1914. (Author)


As hundreds of thousands of civilians descended upon recruiting countries across the British Isles, the soldiers of the BEF were preparing to go to war and boarding troopships. The BEF embarked from Southampton from 12–17 August. The soldiers who embarked were given various messages to motivate them and make them aware of the reasons why they were going. They were given the following message from King George V:





You are leaving home to fight for the safety and honour of my Empire. Belgium whose country we are pledged to defend, has been attacked, and France is about to be invaded by the same powerful foe. I have implicit confidence in you, my soldiers. Duty is your watchword, and I know your duty will be nobly done. I shall follow your every movement with deepest interest and mark with eager satisfaction your daily progress; indeed your welfare will never be absent from my thoughts. I pray God will bless you and guard you, and bring you back victorious.4





Every man would hear or read the King’s message. The soldiers of the BEF would also be given words of motivation and encouragement by their commanding officers. Private Frederick Bolwell, a reservist from the 1st Loyal North Lancashire Regiment recalled the solemn and pessimistic speech given by his commanding officer, Lieutenant-Colonel Guy Knight. Its motivational effectiveness is questionable.





Men of the 1st Loyal North Lancashire Regiment! I wish to bring home to you the fact that we have a hard task before us. We are out to fight a great nation and men who are out for blood. This regiment have always been top-dogs, even with the boys [time serving men]. What are we going to do now that we have the men? [the Reservists] None of you men will come back – nor the next lot – nor the next lot after that, nor the next after that again; but some of the next might. But we’ll give those Germans something to go on with, and we’ll give a good account of ourselves! Remember men, the eyes of the world are upon us, and I know that you will perform whatever task is allotted to you, like men.5





Lieutenant Guy Knight’s prophetic message of doom would become reality very soon, for within four weeks he would be killed, before the battalion took part in the Battle of the Aisne.
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British Hussars arrive in France, 1914. (Author)


For the most part, the soldiers of the BEF had no idea of the ordeal they were about to undergo. Sergeant David Lloyd-Burch serving with No. 10 Field Ambulance wrote of his feelings as he left Southampton docks: ‘We left the docks happy, and little did we know the hardships that were in front of us.’6


As the BEF sailed across the Channel they were protected by the Royal Navy. Although many soldiers sailing on the troopships never saw the Royal Navy during the passage, the ships were deployed in strategic positions that would prevent the German High Seas Fleet from launching an attack.


Field Marshal Sir John French sailed from Dover aboard HMS Sentinel and arrived at Boulogne at 5.00pm on 14 August. Lord Kitchener had given Sir John the remit to support the French Army against the German oppressor, but to be aware that the BEF was a small force and that any decisions on how to deploy this military resource should be made so as to ensure minimum losses. This was a professional army and would be hugely outnumbered. He was asked to consider the needs of the French, however Kitchener had emphasised the fact that the BEF was an independent army and would not come under the orders of an Allied general.


The soldiers of the BEF received a rapturous welcome from the French people as they arrived in French ports. The Mayor of Boulogne requested the people of the port to display the flags of France and Britain to welcome them. The 2nd Connaught Rangers arrived in Boulogne on 15 August and Sergeant John Mcllwain recalled ‘marching through the town cheered by the populace’.7 When they landed they sang ‘It’s a long way to Tipperary’ and it became a famous and popular tune in France.


As the troopships sailed into the French ports of Boulogne, Le Havre and Rouen, the soldiers of the BEF could hear the sounds of the appreciative French locals singing ‘La Marseillaise’.


No.10 Field Ambulance was amongst the first units to arrive in France at Rouen. As they sailed down the River Seine they were warmly greeted by the people. Sergeant David Lloyd-Burch remembered ‘a very pretty sight all the way up this river, for 10 miles people were welcoming us as we were the first contingent of British troops “Vive l’Angleterre” were their cries, to which we responded “Vive la France”.’8


The French welcomed them with flags, flowers and wine. The women offered the soldiers embraces and kisses as they disembarked from the troopships. They were genuinely pleased to see these men who had sailed to help defend their nation.


Private Heys of the 1st Kings (Liverpool Regiment) travelled to France in a troopship from Southampton bound for St Nazaire. He acknowledged the warm welcome: ‘I cannot speak too highly of these people, they are the most generous and warm hearted people it is possible to imagine.’9


Private W. Barker arrived in Le Havre with the 1st Northamptonshire Regiment on 13 August: ‘Here the residents gave us a most rousing reception, and decorated all of us with flowers and ribbons representing the colours of the Allies.’10


The 2nd Welsh Regiment also arrived in Le Havre on 13 August and as they marched through the streets of the port they were adorned with flowers by euphoric locals. Captain Hubert Rees recalled: ‘The enthusiasm of the French at Havre knew no bounds. The Battalion was decked with flowers, stuck in caps and rifle muzzles before we had gone a mile from the docks.’11
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French citizens observe as BEF soldiers – armed with Short Magazine Lee-Enfield Rifles and carrying packs – march through Boulogne after disembarking from their troopships. (Author)


The 1st Coldstream Guards arrived in Le Havre during the early hours of 14 August. Despite their early arrival, the French were waiting. Lieutenant-Colonel John Ponsonby recalled the reception: ‘Arrived at Havre about 1am, disembarking about 4am, we marched through the town along the Harfleur Road, our drums playing, and the inhabitants enthusiastic in that welcome, rushing up and presenting all the men with flowers.’12


Sergeant C.S.A. Avis recalled the experience of the 1st The Queen’s (Royal West Surrey) Regiment, comprised of 26 officers and 1000 men, as they disembarked from the SS Braemer Castle and marched through the port of Le Havre: ‘The Battalion disembarked the following morning and marched through part of that seaport to a plateau outside that town with drums beating and fifes playing martial music and La Marseillaise repeatedly to the cheering crowds that lined the streets.’13


The 1st Queen’s (Royal West Surrey) Regiment were marched to the plateau above Le Havre where they camped for the night. During the following morning the battalion paraded before the Commanding Officer who read the King’s message to the troops, and sections of the Army Act relating to looting and molesting women, emphasising the punishments for such breaches in Army discipline.


There were concerns that German spies were operating in France and soldiers were advised to be careful of what they drank for fear of it being poisoned. Private Harland from the 2nd Royal Sussex Regiment: ‘We were warned not to drink wine offered to us, for there was no saying but what there might be German spies there to put something in our wine. But these French people would have given us anything.’14
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BEF soldiers waiting for orders at Le Havre after disembarking from a troopship, August 1914. (Author)
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BEF troops boarding trains for the frontline at Boulogne harbour, August 1914. French troops can be seen marching on the left. (Author)


The French railway authorities had organised rolling stock and devised a timetable to transport the BEF in trains to the Belgian–French border. These soldiers had a 200-mile train journey, which took 24 hours. Private Frederick Bolwell recalled that the 1st Loyal North Lancashire Regiment spent one night in Le Havre before being herded into cattle trucks en route to Belgium. He remembered being ‘packed into horse-boxes, 36 men and N.C.Os in each box, the total often reaching nearly 50 men’.15


Private F.G. Pattenden wrote of the journey that the 1st Hampshire Regiment endured in these sweltering trains from Le Havre to Le Cateau in his diary:





It is very hot here. We started at 12pm and after 16 hours of grinding and bumping, roar and rattle we have now reached the town of Le Cateau about 30 miles from the frontier. We do not know where we move to next.16





On the journey the trains stopped many times and the welcome was just as effusive along the line. Private W. Barker recalled:





At every station we stopped as there were crowds of people on the platforms and we were presented with more cigarettes, food and drink than we could possibly manage. We were continually pestered for souvenirs, and some of the more daring of the crowd did not hesitate, if they got the chance, to cut off a soldier’s buttons or numerals or to commandeer his cap badge. We all took these attentions in good humour, and I lost my cap badge and my numerals.17





Sergeant Arthur Lane recalled the welcome received by the 2nd Coldstream Guards in his diary on 15 August:





On arrival at Rouen coffee was given by French soldiers. Great crowds on all stations cheering and shouting ‘Vive l’Anglais’ continued through Amiens.18





Lane continued to praise the French support by declaring, ‘French people do all they possibly can for English soldiers.’19


Field Marshal Sir John French arrived at his headquarters at Le Cateau late on 16 August and during the following day he met General Joseph Joffre and General Charles Lanrezac (Commander of the French Fifth Army). Field Marshal French would suffer a tremendous setback when on that same day Lieutenant General Sir James Grierson, commander of II Corps, died from heart failure while on a train close to Amiens. Aged 55, Grierson was obese and unfit. The stress of command during the opening days of the war brought on a heart attack which killed him on the way to the assembly area. French informed Lord Kitchener by telegram and requested Sir Herbert Plumer as a replacement. In a telegram to Lord Kitchener he reported:





My tour has left a satisfactory impression on my mind. The concentration of the troops is proceeding satisfactorily and is up to time. I recommend that Lieutenant-General Plumer may be appointed to command the Second Army Corps to fill vacancy caused by the unfortunate death of General Grierson.20





Despite his lobbying for the appointment of Plumer as replacement commander of II Corps, and much to French’s consternation, Kitchener chose Smith-Dorrien as Grierson’s successor. French was tremendously disappointed when Kitchener sent Sir Horace Smith-Dorrien to command II Corps, for as mentioned earlier, the relationship between French and Smith-Dorrien was poor.


At Boué on 17 August, Brigadier-General Ivor Maxse convened a meeting with his battalion commanders from the 1st Guards Brigade. At this meeting Maxse expressed concerns about poor discipline, especially amongst the reservists. These men would have served for several years in the distant past, but many had forgotten or may not have cared for military discipline now. Lieutenant-Colonel John Ponsonby commanding the 1st Coldstream Guards recorded in his diary:





Maxse had a conference at his Headquarters at the Mairie. He spoke about march discipline, and I think he is quite right, as with all this influx of reservists, the discipline has been bad. I think, however, that it is nonsense to forbid the men to smoke cigarettes on the march. This is an Aldershot order and intended for young soldiers. All C.O.s – Lowther – Grant-Duff – O’Meagher, and myself, are agreed about this.21





On reaching the Belgian frontier the BEF alighted from the trains and began the long march east in the direction of the oncoming German Army. Elements of II Corps disembarked at Landrecies, which was 40 miles from Mons. Field Marshal Sir John French did not know where they would engage with the Germans. As they headed towards the massing German Army the BEF passed the memorial commemorating the Duke of Marlborough’s victory at the Battle of Malplaquet on 11 September 1709 during the War of the Spanish Succession, when Britain was allied with Prussia, Holland and Austria against France and Spain.


The BEF was not taken seriously by Germany or France. It was considered a tiny token force, which would not make any impact or significant contribution to the war; France and Germany had approximately 70 divisions a piece. The French Army numbered 1,071,000 men in the field. Germany had mobilised 1,485,000 men. Kaiser Wilhelm II had little regard for the BEF or its soldiers, for on the 19 August he issued this famous directive to General Alexander von Kluck, Commander of the First German Army:
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British artillery on a railway carriage at a French station, en route to the frontline. (Author)


It is my Royal and Imperial Command that you should concentrate your energies for all the immediate present upon one single purpose, which is to address all your skill and all the valour of my soldiers to exterminate the treacherous English and walk over General French’s contemptible little army.





The Kaiser (not recognising that Sir John French was a Field Marshal) has actually been mistranslated: rather than ‘contemptible’, he actually wrote ‘insignificant’. Nevertheless, from then on the British soldiers who fought the 1914 campaign would be affectionately known as the ‘Old Contemptibles’. The Kaiser had grossly underestimated the British Army, its professionalism, its capabilities and the qualities of its soldiers. They were highly trained, in the main well disciplined and they were volunteers. The BEF would prove to be a competent, formidable and determined fighting force. Anyone lucky enough to have survived the battles at Mons, the Marne, the Aisne and Ypres, would feel proud and honoured to be known as an ‘Old Contemptible’.


By 20 August, General von Kluck’s First Army numbering 320,000 soldiers had crossed the German border at Aachen and had swept through Belgium and triumphantly marched into Brussels, the Belgian capital. They then headed west towards positions north of Mons. They were unaware of the exact position of the BEF and thought that they were landing at the Channel ports of Calais and Dunkirk. They were unaware that the BEF had already disembarked and were crossing the Belgian border. Although he had no precise information as to the whereabouts of the BEF, General von Kluck held the massive advantage of superior numbers, three to one.


During the evening of 22 August Smith-Dorrien’s II Corps was positioned along the western bank of the Mons-Condé Canal while Haig’s I Corps was positioned in front of the Belgian fortress at Maubeuge. During that day the French Fifth Army commanded by General Lanrezac south of their position was being overwhelmed by the German Third Army at Charleroi. German forces were implementing the Schlieffen Plan. The First German Army was heading west towards positions north of Mons. The German Second Army had captured Liège and was causing problems for Lanzrezac’s Fifth French Army south east of Mons. If the Fifth Army line collapsed then the BEF would become vulnerable to being cut off from French forces and from access to the Channel ports. Field Marshal French was informed of this dangerous situation during the night of 22 August.


A meeting was convened by Field Marshal Sir John French at the chateau at Sars la Bruyère at 5.30am during the morning of 23 August with his Corps commanders, Haig and Smith-Dorrien. He ordered that the outpost line along the Mons canal be reinforced and that the bridges crossing the canal be prepared for demolition in the event of there being rushed by German forces. There was very little communication between the Field Marshal and his French counterparts, which meant that he knew very little about the strategic situation and could not make provisional plans for the way forward. French was extremely vague and told Haig and Smith-Dorrien to prepare to move in any direction, be it to advance or retreat. French left his Corps commanders to fight their first engagement of the war at Mons, while he headed for Valenciennes, far from the impending confrontation with the German Army.


It seemed like a normal Sunday morning on 23 August in the mediaeval town of Mons as the church bells rang and the local Belgian civilians dressed in their finest were walking to church. Trains were steaming towards Mons carrying holiday makers to the town. They were oblivious to the fact that the British and German armies were heading for a collision at Mons. The day started off misty with rain falling.


When II Corps engaged the German First Army at the canal at Mons, the unplanned action was the first time in 99 years, since the Battle of Waterloo in 1815, that British soldiers had fired a shot in anger on European soil. The 4th Duke of Cambridge’s Own (Middlesex Regiment) and the 4th Royal Fusiliers were holding the Nimy–Obourg Salient east of Mons and would bear the brunt of the German vanguard. Within three weeks these two battalions would cross the Aisne and play an active role in the Battle of the Aisne.


At 6.00am the 4th Middlesex Regiment, the ‘Die Hards’, engaged in rifle fire with a German cavalry patrol. They were occupying positions at Obourg Station, which was on the eastern bank of the Mons Canal. They were responsible for the defence of four bridges and two railway crossings. The 4th Middlesex Regiment were ordered to ‘delay the enemy as much as possible’.22


German cavalry patrols also approached positions held by the 4th Royal Fusiliers who were adjacent on their left flank. It was fate that put the 4th Royal Fusiliers in the vanguard at Nimy, not planning. Private William Holbrook from the 4th Royal Fusiliers explained why this particular battalion was at the forefront of the German onslaught at Mons:
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The 4th Royal Fusiliers hold the bridge at Nimy during the Battle of Mons on 23 August 1914. Three weeks later the remnants of the battalion would take part in the Battle of the Aisne. Private Sidney Godley can be seen manning a Vickers machine gun on the west bank. Private Godley together with Lieutenant Maurice Dease would be awarded the first Victoria Crosses of the war for defending this position. (Deeds that Thrill the Empire)


We used to take turns, a different battalion had to lead the way. The day we got to Mons, it was our turn to be at the front, we were at the front the day before, but as our second in command, Major M_____ took us on a wrong journey, the wrong route, as a punishment we had to lead the next day and that of course led us straight into Mons.23





Holbrook remembered ‘we lined the bank’24 and mentioned that local children were standing close to the machine-gun position established by Lieutenant Maurice Dease and Private Sidney Godley at the railway bridge at Nimy. These inquisitive children were told get out of the way as the firing began.


At 9.00am German artillery was in position on high ground east of Mons and began firing upon the line held by the 4th Middlesex Regiment and the 4th Royal Fusiliers. During the Battle of Mons, Holbrook was runner to Major Barnes Smith:





I could see the Germans coming down in waves. They were not in formation. As far as I could see there was quite a number of them, more men than we had. I only fired a bit because I was behind the company with the officers. I don’t think I was nervous when the action started, everything happened so suddenly. But it was all new to me – it was new to all of us. You didn’t really think about that. Shells seemed to worry me a bit, the bursting of shells.25





At 9.00am as the German shells were falling and German infantry approached the eastern bank of the Mons Canal. Reinforcements from the 2nd Royal Irish were brought in to support the rear of the 4th Middlesex Regiment. By 10.00am the German IX Corps was advancing in waves along the banks of the Mons Salient from Nimy to Obourg.


The British bullets tore into the advancing ranks of the German First Army, but they were unable to hold their positions. German infantry began to cross the Mons Canal after midday and by 1.30pm the 4th Middlesex Regiment were forced to withdraw. Lieutenant T. Woollcombe, adjutant, recalled their experience at Obourg Station.





There were a lot of buildings on our side of the railway which were placed in a state of defence by the R.E. D Company was to hold Obourg Station and the two bridges near there and B Company, the other two bridges linking up the line between the 9th Brigade and D Company. The latter had trenches to dig to retire to if forced to do so, but the unfortunate D Company had bad country behind them where defence of this kind was impossible, being very thickly wooded. This should have lent itself to an easy retirement but apparently this company did not think of retiring, for of the 6 officers and 213 other ranks who went into action there, only 32 other ranks got back after the battle next day. The 32 fortunate ones who got back were in small bunches, in ones and twos, to join the rest of the battalion in the evening. The Germans apparently got across the canal somewhere away to the right of the battalion front and pushed up the rear of this company. However it took them nearly all day to do it and cost them many hundreds of lives.26





With the line of the 4th Middlesex Regiment broken, 30 minutes later the 4th Royal Fusiliers line faltered as German infantry swarmed across the canal. Lieutenant Maurice Dease and Private Sidney Godley from the 4th Royal Fusiliers had held onto the western bank throughout that morning. Dease was killed and Godley continued to fire his machine gun, positioned on the Nimy Bridge, until he was captured later that day. Both Dease and Godley would receive the Victoria Cross, the first recipients of the war.


Smith-Dorrien realised that his men were being overwhelmed by a superior force and brought II Corps to a defensive position south of Mons. Haig brought I Corps to Smith-Dorrien’s right flank. The first day of fighting cost the BEF approximately 1600 casualties. Von Kluck lost about 5000 men. One unidentified soldier commented: ‘I can tell you this, when we British went into the Battle of Mons there was nobody more surprised than the Germans. From what their prisoners said I knew they hadn’t the least idea they were going to fight the British.’27


The 2nd Connaught Rangers were held in reserve two miles north of Bougnies and could see the flames and smoke from the battle that were billowing from the town of Mons. Sergeant John Mcllwain wrote:





March all day. In the evening formed up on the summit of a position overlooking Mons, part of which was in flames. The first division and others in front of us. Artillery exchanges. We entrenched in a beet field. Support trenches of course, in case the Germans might drive the first army back. Plenty of enthusiasm.28





Later that night news came through confirming that Lanrezac had ordered the French Fifth Army to retreat. Field Marshal French could try to hold the ground south of Mons and risk the prospect of a total collapse of the line and a complete annihilation. Or he could deploy the BEF at the Belgian fortress at Maubeuge; however they would have been vulnerable to being entirely surrounded by German forces. The BEF could only slow down the might of the advancing German Army. The sensible strategy was to retreat, like their French Allies. The retreat from Mons began on 24 August. Marching south, the BEF was hotly pursued by the German Army.


Soldiers of the BEF were aghast, appalled by the prospect of retreating. They had come to Belgium to fight and repel the German invaders. To retreat was regarded as a defeat. Sergeant John Mcllwain wrote of his indignation at retreating: ‘Stand-to before dawn. At sunrise, to our disgust, ordered to retire from our beautiful trenches. Retiring all day.’29


The 2nd Coldstream Guards would see their first action on 24 August. They fought all that day. Sergeant Arthur Lane provides a detailed account of the battalion’s actions:
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Two views of Nimy Bridge at Mons. (Author)
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We left trenches at 3 o’clock am, went through village and had to return at the double to our original position. Fought a rearguard action all day and only the bad shells that the Germans used saved the Company. One shell struck ground about ten yards in front and one twenty yards in rear … Again shelled during day but no damage done. People all leaving home; very pitiable sight. Guns shelled an aeroplane, and shells burst all round, but she succeeded in getting away. Germans when attacking Middlesex forced women from Mons to go in front to shield; could not fire and lost heavily. South Lancs and Berks had casualties. German spy caught attempting to bribe gunners.30





Private John Cowe, a Coldstream Guard recalled ‘we got further down country and different places were on fire, farms and that.’31


The summer heat that bore down on them as they marched would intensify their discomfort during the retreat. Private Frederick Bolwell from the 1st Loyal North Lancashire Regiment affirmed: ‘Most of the next ten days remain in my mind as a nightmare. The weather was exceedingly hot, the long roads with stone sets stretching as far as the eye could see were very wearisome, and the men were utterly exhausted.’32 Sergeant C.S.A. Avis from the 1st The Queen’s (Royal West Surrey) Regiment:


[image: images]


Belgian refugees fleeing their homes. (The Church in the Fighting Line)


During the retreat from Mons we endured very long marches wearing full marching order equipment in the summer heat. When we halted we were ordered to sit or lie down to rest. When the battalion was the rearguard orders were given to fix bayonets and prod along any stragglers. Very few fell by the wayside. We marched for nearly 36 hours without respite or sleep in very hot weather and finally in drenching rain to Landrecies.33





Whenever rearguard units came under attack, reinforcements were sent back along the road to support them. Here they would dig shallow trenches and fight off the enemy under the intense summer heat. Private Frederick Bolwell:





The hardest time of all was when one’s particular regiment found rearguard: then we often had to march back for a few miles along the way we had come, dig trenches, hold the enemy the whole of the day, and then at night continue the march until we picked up the main body again. Oftentimes on reaching the main body it was found that they were just ready to start again, so the rearguard would be obliged to continue their march without intermission.34





German patrols would sometimes advance ahead of retreating elements of the BEF and would wait for them to approach in concealed positions. Bolwell remembered a pilot from the Royal Flying Corps landing close to the road where the 1st Loyal North Lancashire Regiment were marching to warn them that in a wood miles ahead, German troops were waiting to ambush them. This vital piece of information meant they skirted the position.


By 25 August the BEF had reached the Forest of Mormal. Here Field Marshal French decided to separate the two Corps as they took two different roads either side of the forest. If he had kept the BEF as a single force the route might have become congested. There would have been a greater risk of being overrun and surrounded. The movement of a division, whether advancing or retreating, was an enormous logistical undertaking. The one British division made up of 18,073 ranks, 5592 horses, 76 guns and 24 machine guns would occupy 15 miles of road space. By separating his forces Field Marshal French ensured that the BEF kept moving.


French refugees were on the roads used by the BEF and so impeding the retreat. On 25 August the 1st Hampshire Regiment were close to Le Cateau waiting for the enemy to appear, while displaced French citizens were moving south with all the possessions they could carry, in a state of despair. Private F.G. Pattenden recalled the pitiable scene in his diary:





After a hurried breakfast during which we stood by for orders we moved off through Le Cateau. We have now retired and at 11.50am we are waiting for the Germans to appear. All the poor refugees are going by us, crying bitterly, also a few of our wounded. What a terrible thing it is at present, what will it be like later on? We all have good brave hearts with us and all are prepared to help our good friends the French. What a fine country this is, they would give you their shirts.35
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Field Marshal French was becoming frustrated with French commanders who failed to communicate their positions and strategies. French conveyed his feelings to Lord Kitchener from his HQ at Le Cateau on 25 August.





It is, of course, always difficult to work with an ally, and I am feeling this rather acutely. The French do not keep me sufficiently informed as to the general situation, and they evidently try to conceal reverses or compulsory retirements.36





German forces held the upper hand and were dictating events on the battlefield. French could not implement the strategy of offensive which had been instilled in all British Army officers at Sandhurst. The BEF was forced to move in response to the enemy’s movements and was unable to launch an offensive.





Had the advance commenced on Sunday, as I was led to suppose it would, we should had got well into Belgian territory before we came to close quarters with the Germans.


We should have probably have hampered their deployment and secured many advantages which this unfortunate delay has made now impossible.


In fact, we seem to be making the old mistake of conforming to the enemy’s movements rather than compelling him to conform to ours.’


But that was not the worst aspect of what has happened. Whilst I took up a forward position which would have enabled me to jump off easily, the French 5th Army were actually retiring, and doing so without giving me any warnings, so that on Sunday night and Monday morning (24th) I found myself almost in the air with three German Corps and two Cavalry Divisions.


As regards what you say about Joffre in your telegrams, it is very difficult to induce these French Generals to consider any modification of the views they have formed, but I will do what I can with him. Indeed, through using Huguet as a means of communication, I have consistently tried to bring home to the French Commander-in-Chief the necessity for vigorous offensive.


Regarding my own immediate plans, as the French still seem to be so supine I am continuing my retirement tomorrow morning from the line LE CATEAU-CAMBRAI towards PERONNE. I do not wish to risk a battle with the Germans against greatly superior forces, and the men, although in the highest spirits, want some rest.37





On the 25th, as the day of marching and fighting rearguard actions was drawing to a close and when the men of the BEF were hoping for some rest and sleep, those soldiers who were in the vicinity of Landrecies would take part in further engagements with their pursuing enemy, when a German patrol made contact with the 4th Guards Brigade. The 1st Irish Guards, the 2nd Grenadier Guards and the 2nd and 3rd Coldstream Guards from this brigade would play a prominent role in the Battle of the Aisne at Soupir in the weeks ahead. The 4th Guards Brigade reached the town of Landrecies, a village south of the Forest of Mormal, at 4.00pm, where General Haig had established his headquarters two hours previously. News that German forces were advancing in their direction was brought by alarmed French civilians who reported seeing units in the forest of Mormal at 5.30pm. Guardsmen from this brigade were ordered to stand to but with no sight of the enemy they were stood down.


Sergeant C.S.A. Avis from the 1st Queen’s (Royal West Surrey Regiment) was not far from Landrecies on that day:





The battalion arrived at a hamlet near Landrecies nearly exhausted; a halt was called as it seemed impossible to move on. Just as we were bivouacked at dusk there was an alarm that we were about to be attacked. There was confusion and sharp rifle fire which was quickly controlled. It proved to be false, nerves!38





Lieutenant N.H. Huttenbach who belonged to 41st Brigade Royal Field Artillery:





On reaching Landrecies settled down for a little sleep. Even there respite was not to be, as in the late afternoon it was rumoured falsely, but in the evening feared to be correct, that Germans were on the outskirts of the town.39





The 14th Infantry Brigade of the German 7th Division had marched south across the forest of Mormal from Le Quesnoy towards Landrecies. This brigade was comprised of the 27th and 165th Regiment, the 10th Hussars and 4th Field Artillery Regiment. Advance parties from the 27th Regiment accompanied by an artillery battery had the intention of looking for billets. They were ordered to seize the bridge crossing the Sambre Canal at Landrecies and set up billets within the town for the night. They were unaware of the British presence in the town, but as they got closer they realised that Landrecies was occupied and advance units then quietly positioned themselves 500 yards away from No.3 Company, 3rd Coldstream Guards, commanded by Captain the Honourable C.H.S. Monck. They had established two machine-gun positions on either side of the approach road from Le Quesnoy into the town. Monck had been advised to expect French troops to come along this road.


At 7.30pm on 25 August Monck’s men could hear the noise of horses and wheels and footsteps of marching infantry approaching them. It was a German regimental transport, which was ordered to get to the billets in the town. They were unaware that Landrecies was held by British forces and they were approaching close to a machine-gun position, protected by barbed wire entanglements, of the 3rd Coldstream Guards. A sentry challenged the approaching German convoy and received a reply in French. Some of the soldiers were singing songs in French; when a torch was flashed in their direction the British could see soldiers dressed in French uniforms, but German infantry with fixed bayonets were following close behind. As they drew closer they lowered their bayonets and charged towards the Coldstream Guards. Monck immediately ordered his men to open fire but before the order was carried out Monck was knocked to the ground. Private Thomas Robson who was manning the machine gun guarding the right side of the road into Landrecies was killed and the gun captured by Germans who managed to drag it away. They brought the machine gun ten yards before they were cut down by rifle fire from the ranks of the Coldstream Guards who mounted a counter attack and recovered the machine gun.
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The action at Landrecies, 25 August 1914. (The War Illustrated, 19 September 1914)


The other battalions of the 4th Guards Brigade raised the alarm and every soldier reached for his rifle and stood to. Major T. Matheson with No 1 Company commanded by Captain E. Longueville rushed forward to support Monck’s company. Bullets had pierced Monck’s cap and coat but he was unscathed. No. 2 and No.4 Companies were dispatched to protect the northern perimeter of Landrecies.


The 2nd Grenadier Guards established defensive lines on the western approaches to Landrecies aided by a howitzer and a field gun, while the 2nd Coldstream Guards protected the eastern and southern perimeters of the town. The 1st Irish Guards prepared to defend Landrecies. The 3rd Coldstream Guards bore the brunt of the German efforts to capture Landrecies during that night. Wave after wave of German infantry charged forward to be thwarted by the deadly accurate rifle fire of the Guardsmen. German infantry managed to crawl behind some hedges and outflank the 3rd Coldstreamers line on the right, which forced them to fall back to obtain some cover from a nearby cottage.


At 8.30pm German artillery brought their guns to bear upon the town causing damage and fires. When a haystack was set alight by an incendiary bomb it illuminated the British positions and German observers could see that only a thin line was defending Landrecies. With the British position exposed the Germans brought up a field gun and began firing at them point blank at a range of 25 yards. Under heavy German shell fire and despite the close proximity of the enemy, Private George Wyatt of the 3rd Coldstream Guards made two daring attempts to extinguish the flames that were revealing their position. Wyatt was awarded the Victoria Cross for his valiant efforts.


Street fighting ensued within the town and the Guards secured their positions behind barricades erected across the streets. At 1.00am on 26 August Lieutenant-Colonel G.P.T. Feilding, the commanding officer of the 3rd Coldstream Guards, ordered a howitzer from the 60th Battery to be brought into the town and positioned behind one barricade. A flash of a German field gun could be seen in the darkness and the howitzer fired three rounds in that direction, silencing the gun. The 1st Irish Guards launched a counter attack at 3.00am, which provided the 3rd Coldstream Guards with an opportunity to withdraw. A bitter street battle was fought and very shortly the German forces had had enough and withdrew into the night. Lieutenant N.H. Huttenbach:





During the night fierce street fighting, successfully repulsed by the 4th Infantry Guards Brigade under Lord Cavan’s command, supported by 9th Battery RFA, a howitzer battery with guns in the barricades and so enabled us to extricate ourselves and continue the retreat at dawn.40
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The 14th Field Ambulance march through a French village. (The Church in the Fighting Line)


Sergeant W.J. Cook from the 2nd Coldstream Guards had arrived at Landrecies after a 14-hour march in intense heat during the afternoon of 25 August:





Resumed march at 3.30am to French barracks at Landrecies, again dead beat owing to the distance & heat, arriving about 5pm. At 9.00pm the alarm sounded, when we turned out and barricaded the streets and had an exceedingly hot time (our 3rd Bn. suffered heavy lesson).41





The action at Landrecies bought the 4th Guards Brigade sufficient time to withdraw and escape south. Continuous marching from Mons for the past two days and the fighting of rearguard actions prevented them from taking any rest. They had no choice but to keep on moving. The 2nd Coldstreams left the town during the early hours of 26 August. Sergeant W.J. Cook:





We moved out of Landrecies, with much difficulty, 2.30am. Immediately we left, the town was all in flames. This Batt’n fought a rearguard action as far as Etreux where we bivouacked, completely exhausted. From 3am 23rd till 2pm 26th, we covered 100 kilometres, spent one night digging and one night fighting, making a total of 5 hours sleep out of 63 hours.42





The 4th Guards Brigade had suffered significant casualties and the action at Landrecies would be a foretaste of the Battle of the Aisne. The 3rd Coldstream Guards sustained 120 casualties, while the 14th German Infantry Brigade lost 127 men.


As the 4th Guards Brigade were fighting the rearguard action at Landrecies, fresh reinforcements from the 4th Division had arrived at Le Cateau from England during the night of 25 August and had prepared a defensive position. 250,000 German soldiers were descending upon Le Cateau. Smith-Dorrien realised the impossibility of continuing the retreat in daylight and decided to hold the ground long enough at Le Cateau to stop the German advance and gain enough time for the worn-out 3rd and 5th Division to continue the withdrawal.


The battle at Le Cateau began at dawn on 26 August and German attempts to go forward were thwarted by approximately 50,000 men from Smith-Dorrien’s 1st Corps, which held back 250,000 German infantry. The Germans should have overwhelmed these brave British soldiers but they doggedly held on for eight hours. The 14th Infantry Brigade holding the right flank of the 5th Division had capitulated with the 2nd Suffolk’s completely wiped out.


The 1st Rifle Brigade was ordered to wait in a sunken road during the Battle of Le Cateau and prepare to launch a surprise ambush upon advancing German infantry. They were unable to launch any attack because German artillery fire was targeted upon a line of trees behind the sunken road and shells and shrapnel decimated the battalion. With the battalion bunched up in one location, exposed to this fire, officers learned that it was necessary to thin the line to limit the casualties. The casualties amounted to 8 officers and 350 men who were so severely wounded that they were unable to be evacuated from the sunken road. The majority of these wounded men were left under the supervision of Captain Garland. They were captured by the enemy as the remnants of the battalion withdrew to Ligny.


The BEF were in retreat and in a state of chaos. There were no organised facilities to tend to the wounded and they had to be bound with field dressings at the side of the road. With the enemy so close it was essential that the wounded were dealt with quickly and that they kept moving. Major C.L. Brereton from the 68th Battery, 14th Brigade Royal Field Artillery, recalled the situation after the battle of Le Cateau:





While marching along the Ligny-Haucourt road, shells were bursting on the Le Cateau-Cambrai Ridge, infantry were coming hurriedly down the slopes towards us and through us. Most of them looked quite exhausted, and it was evident that they had been badly cut up. There was a block on the road and while waiting, we were bracketed by a couple of percussion shells. I thought we were ‘for it’ but nothing further happened. Wounded were being hurriedly dressed by the side of the road, but it was obvious there were no ambulances, and practically no medical arrangements.43





The BEF could not sustain a permanent defence of Le Cateau because they were greatly outnumbered and during that afternoon Smith-Dorrien ordered II Corps to withdraw. II Corps lost 7812 soldiers and 38 artillery pieces.


As the BEF withdrew south towards the River Marne, General Hubert Gough’s 3rd Cavalry Brigade came under the command of Haig’s I Corps and their orders were to cover the rear of I Corps. Gough’s brigade was intact, but he was not told how to execute his orders to cover the I Corps retreat. Gough requested orders from Sir John French’s General Headquarters as to where he was to deploy his brigade. Sir Henry Wilson advised him to use his own discretion. ‘Oh, you are on the spot, do what you like, old boy.’44 This vague response left Gough incensed. ‘Such orders left me to do what I liked, certainly, but did not tell me how to do it or indeed what was wanted! – and I may add, positively infuriated me.’45


There was also a lot of confusion and a lack of decisive orders from BEF Staff Officers. Captain A.H. Habgood from the 9th Field Ambulance, 3rd Division:





There was a general absence of orders; many officers and detachments asked us the way to their units; we did not know, and the only answer we got from the staff officers we encountered was ‘Get on’, so we followed the rest.46





As the retreat continued southwards errors were made by tired officers who in some cases did not have any orders. The 2nd Connaught Rangers had to move back to Laval on 26 August and continue the retreat through Taisnières. Sergeant John Mcllwain:





About 4.00am our officers, who were as wearied as ourselves, and apparently without orders, and in doubt what to do, led us back to the position of the night before. After some consultation we took up various positions in a shallow valley. Told to keep a sharp look-out for Uhlans. We appeared to be on some covering movement.47





The men were continually on edge, their nerves strained by the slightest sound in the dark. By the end of 26 August the 2nd Connaught Rangers could only muster 50 per cent of battalion strength. Lieutenant-Colonel Alexander Abercrombie was mortally wounded and 280 men were listed missing, presumably captured. Sergeant John Mcllwain:





The prospect of being taken prisoner in our miserable condition – for we could never elude such an immense force – made the situation peculiarly tense and memorable. For all the years of the war after that time, and years after that, if, in the silence of night, I heard a horse calling, at once there would come to my mind again a picture of that waiting in uncertainty in the rain, while the clatter of a thousand hooves and the pathetic neighing of the horses came over the quiet fields under the lit-up sky. But it was the French Army.48





Laden with heavy equipment the BEF men were ordered to dispense with items that were not vital. In the heat, one item discarded by many soldiers was their overcoat. Sergeant C.S.A. Avis recalled: ‘Later we were ordered to discard the valises of the webbing equipment containing our overcoats and other necessities.’49


The decision to abandon their overcoats was one which BEF commanders and soldiers would regret weeks later, when the hot summer days were replaced by torrential, cold rain at the river Aisne.


There was evidence of a breakdown in discipline as the retreat from Mons was conducted. Some weary soldiers who were extremely hungry fell out at the side of the road for rest and then joined other units. There was a collapse in structure and organisation as units became intermingled. The men looked ragged, and standard military dress was replaced with practical clothing that would shield them from the sun. Sergeant John Mcllwain:





Much has been written about slackening of discipline about this time. One wonders was it some of the comfortable looking staff officers riding about the roads who commented upon this. Men were observed staggering about and straying on the roads, falling out apparently as they wished, and rejoining, often with units not their own. Men threw away equipment and clothing. Men lost their caps, and girls’ sun hats became quite a fashionable article of wear. These were looted from houses and shops. Special instructions were afterwards issued condemning this eccentricity of the British soldier.50





Mcllwain did comment that some officers gave leeway to their exhausted soldiers and were confident that discipline would kick back in when it was required.





But so far as the retreat was concerned at this period; everybody was exhausted. Sleeplessness and hunger wore out the officers, who were quite contented to let the men keep loosely together on the march. But on the notable occasions when these same weary men had to turn and fight they roused themselves and did well, sometimes fighting to a finish. Their officers knew they could trust them to do that.51





Officers and their battalions became lost at times during the retreat. At Chaconin on 2 September, officers from the 2nd Connaught Rangers lost their bearings and contact with their brigade, much to the dismay of the troops, who would consequently have to march farther than necessary.





This day we appeared to have lost the brigade again. Our commanding officer, Major Sarsfield, is a wearied, anxious man, riding up and down with the adjutant, Captain Yeldman. We seem to be cut off from the army altogether. French civilians are being questioned by our officers who, with maps in hand, look as doubtful as Sarsfield. The men, in their uneasiness, are abusing the officers.52





As they advanced farther into France they were hindered by congested roads and were vulnerable to German cavalry attacks. Sergeant C.S.A. Avis:





The progress of the withdrawal was slow owing to the roads being congested with vehicles of all sorts, refugees and our own broken-down commercial lorries containing food supplies. We were continually harassed by enemy cavalry patrols.53





Some men were so malnourished they lost their appetite altogether. Lieutenant-Colonel H.R. Davies commanding the 2nd Oxford & Buckinghamshire Light Infantry recalled in his diary:





Between 24th August and 5th September we did 178 miles in 12 marches and 1 halt a day. Not a very long distance, but very long hours under arms, hardly any sleep and boiling hot weather. Never in my life have I felt anything like the degree of tiredness that I felt on this retreat. Everyone felt it like this. I remember that we wondered if we should ever feel rested again and whether it would not leave some permanent effect upon us. The worst thing was the want of sleep. The next worst thing the heat of the sun and the thirst. I think the extreme fatigue brought on a sort of unnatural thirst. I don’t think one felt hungry much. I remember sometimes trying to eat some biscuits and bully beef at a halt on the march and failing to manage more than a few mouthfuls. What helped us more than anything was getting apples. When we halted near apple trees I always ordered the apples to be picked and eaten.54





Field Marshal Sir John French recognised that his men were exhausted and hungry. If there were any trenches that were needed to be dug for preparing a defensive rearguard line, local people would be used to dig them. French reported to Lord Kitchener on 27 August:





The men were exhausted and wanted food. I wanted to keep all their power for marching and not to fatigue them with digging, but we had previously got some local labour and done a certain amount of entrenching.55





Many of the soldiers under Lieutenant-Colonel Davies’ command in the 2nd Oxford & Buckinghamshire Regiment were reservists and were not in a fit condition to march. Many soldiers succumbed to sun-stroke while some of the soldier’s feet were so sorely blistered that they had to be carried along. Davies wrote:





More than half the men were reservists who in spite of some route marches had not got into proper condition for marching and consequently there were a good many sore feet. A few of these were so bad that they had to be sent to hospital but the large majority of the sore-footed men stuck to it splendidly. We usually had no ambulances with us so that even the men who fell down unconsciously with sun-stroke had to be got along on transport of some kind or artillery limbers.56





Many of the reservists did not have the chance to get physically fit when they were mobilised and it would cause them immense problems during the retreat from Mons. Their feet would become blistered and were bleeding due to continuous days of marching. Some men resorted to marching along the hard cobbled stones with their puttees wrapped around their feet to ease the pain. Although these men were struggling to put one foot before the other, they continued with grim determination. Captain Hubert Rees wrote of the poor physical condition of the men from the 2nd Welsh Regiment under his command:
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